#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00474

DEBRA JOEL, AS EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE OF JIMMY JOEL: LINDSEY MEADOR, AS TRUSTEE FOR THE JAMES J. "JIMMY" JOEL TESTAMENTARY MARITAL TRUST AND AS TRUSTEE FOR THE JAMES J. "JIMMY" JOEL FAMILY TRUST; MICHELLE A. HUMBLE, FORMERLY KNOWN AS MICHELLE A. SHACKELFORD; AND MICHAEL A. SHACKELFORD

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

JAMES H. JOEL AND MARGARET R. JOEL

**APPELLEES** 

	ON APPEAL	FROM THE	
CHANCERY C	OURT OF THE SEC	COND JUDICIAL DI	STRICT OF
	BOLIVAR	COUNTY	
	•		
	BRIEF OF AF	PPELLANTS	

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether this Court should conduct a de nova review of the findings of fact and conclusions of law when the chancellor's thirty-four (34) page opinion was virtually a verbatim copy of the proposed opinion submitted by Plaintiffs' counsel.
- II. Whether the clear and convincing standard for imposing a constructive trust was met when the only evidence of the alleged misrepresentation upon which the trust was based was the oral testimony of the proponent (i.e., Plaintiff), and the Plaintiff waited over six (6) years to file suit (after the person who supposedly made the misrepresentation had died, and cannot testify).
- III. Whether the chancellor erred in allowing Plaintiffs to amend a sworn Complaint with a second sworn Complaint when; the second Complaint was flatly inconsistent with, and irreconcilable with, the first Complaint; the second Complaint was filed to avoid dismissal after Defendants moved for summary judgment; and all of the "facts" alleged in the first and second Complaints were based on the Plaintiffs' personal knowledge, which they had from the very beginning.
- IV. Whether the chancellor erred by not dismissing on statute of limitations grounds Plaintiffs' claim that a life estate deed should be set aside because of alleged misrepresentations as to the meaning of a life estate made prior to the 2001 closing, when the statute of limitations on misrepresentation claims is three (3) years and Plaintiffs did not file suit until over six (6) years later in 2007.
- V. Whether the chancellor erred in not dismissing the Plaintiffs' claims based on the doctrine of laches when Plaintiffs did not pursue their claim that they were misled as to the meaning of life estate language in a deed until over six (6) years after

the closing on the deed, and after the death of the person that supposedly misled the Plaintiffs, when Plaintiffs knew at the time of closing that the deed in question contained a life estate, could have consulted their lawyer at the closing or at any time thereafter, and the language of the deed was clear and unambiguous.

- VI. Whether the chancellor erred in imposing a constructive trust when the chancellor did not consider or apply the factors mandated by this Court and the Mississippi Supreme Court in determining whether a confidential relationship existed.
- VII. Whether the chancellor erred in finding a confidential relationship existed when the proponent of the constructive trust himself testified that he and his wife lived independently, were in good health, managed their own healthcare needs, handled their own finances, made their own financial decisions, had bought and sold several houses, had used lawyers a number of times, were not dependent on their son or anyone else in their daily lives, and generally made all of their own decisions, big or small.
- VIII. Whether the chancellor erred by imposing a constructive trust based only on the Plaintiff's own subjective testimony that he "trusted" his son to explain to him the meaning of a life estate.
- IX. Whether the chancellor erred by determining that a constructive trust could be imposed on the purported basis of unjust enrichment without first determining if a confidential relationship existed i.e., by finding that the land deal the Plaintiffs made with their son was a bad deal, and then using the "bad" deal as the basis for finding a confidential relationship.

- X. Whether the chancellor erred in finding that a gratuitous agency relationship existed.
- XI. Whether, assuming arguendo the existence of a gratuitous agency relationship, such a relationship can serve as the basis for finding that a confidential relationship exists when the mandatory factors for finding a confidential relationship have not been considered and the undisputed evidence shows that the mandatory factors cannot be satisfied.
- XII. Whether the chancellor erred in finding there was "abuse" of a confidential relationship (assuming arguendo such existed) when both parties had legitimate reasons for entering into the agreement at the time, the language of the deed in question was unambiguous, the deed was presented to the Plaintiffs during the closing, the Plaintiffs accepted delivery of a properly recorded copy of the deed thereafter, and the Plaintiffs were represented by counsel during the closing and capable of timely seeking legal advice at any time thereafter.
- XIII. Whether the chancellor erred in finding there was "abuse" of a confidential relationship (assuming arguendo such existed) when the only abuse alleged was that a lay person (the Plaintiffs' son) told his parents (the Plaintiffs) what he thought were the answers to their questions about the meaning of a life estate, the son's answers were, in fact, true and accurate statements, and there was no evidence the son was acting with any ill intent, in doing so.
- XIV. Whether the Chancellor erred in finding that Plaintiffs' son "abused" a confidential relationship (assuming arguendo such existed) because he did not contribute "one penny" toward the purchase of the house at issue, when the undisputed evidence showed that he contributed \$20,500 in equity, gave up

- liquidity and control of that equity for the duration of the life estate, and the Plaintiffs and their son had valid reasons for entering into the deal at the time.
- XV. Whether the chancellor erred in finding the value of a house was the amount asserted by Plaintiffs (i.e., the contract price of \$94,500), when the Plaintiffs submitted no expert testimony to support their assertion, and when Defendants' expert testified that the value in 2001 was \$115,000.
- XVI. Whether the chancellor erred in fashioning a remedy that gave the Plaintiffs fee simple title in the subject property (assuming arguendo any remedy was proper) when it was undisputed that the Plaintiffs bargained for a life estate in the property, knew that they received a life estate, and Plaintiff admitted that all he wanted was for the remainder interest to be reformed.
- XVII. Whether the chancellor erred in denying Defendants' counterclaims for an equitable lien when it was undisputed the Plaintiffs' son put \$20,500 in equity and paid for more than \$8,000 in improvements to the subject property in exchange for a remainder interest in that property.

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00474

DEBRA JOEL, AS EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE OF
JIMMY JOEL; LINDSEY MEADOR, AS TRUSTEE
FOR THE JAMES J. "JIMMY" JOEL TESTAMENTARY
MARITAL TRUST AND AS TRUSTEE FOR THE JAMES
J. "JIMMY" JOEL FAMILY TRUST; MICHELLE A. HUMBLE,
FORMERLY KNOWN AS MICHELLE A. SHACKELFORD;
AND MICHAEL A. SHACKELFORD

**APPELLANTS** 

٧.

JAMES H. JOEL AND MARGARET R. JOEL

**APPELLEES** 

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### INTRODUCTION

The chancellor in this case undid a 2001 real estate transaction on the basis that the Appellees' son misled them about the meaning of a life estate they agreed to purchase in the property at issue prior to the closing on the property. In undoing the transaction, the chancellor erred by imposing a constructive trust on the remainder interest in the property held by the son's estate, without regard to the statute of limitations, which ran years before the Appellees filed suit and thus barred their claims, and without regard to the doctrine of laches, which stood as a further bar to their claims. The chancellor further erred by imposing a constructive trust without considering or applying the mandatory factors for determining the existence of a confidential relationship (a threshold issue in constructive trust cases) under circumstances in which the proponents of the trust (the Appellees) admitted that, at the time of the transaction,

References to the Record will be cited as "R." References to the trial transcript, which are volumes 8 and 9 of the Record, will be cited as "T." References to the Record Excerpts will be cited as "RE." References to trial exhibits will be cited as "Ex. at p. ."

the son did not exert a dominant influence over them, and they were not dependent upon him in their daily lives. The chancellor also erred by finding that the testimony of the proponent of the trust, by itself, constituted clear and convincing evidence as to both the existence of a confidential relationship and its abuse, when the evidence overwhelmingly showed there to be no such relationship and no abuse. And, in denying the Appellants' equitable counterclaim, the chancellor erred by ignoring the overwhelming evidence that showed it to be valid. Because of these errors, as discussed in detail below, Appellants hereby seek relief from the chancellor's opinion and order granting Appellees' claims and denying Appellants' counterclaims.

This is a precedent-setting case, the importance of which goes well beyond the property at stake herein. Simply put, unless the chancellor is reversed and the original Deed put back into place, every land transaction between family members, friends, partners, and others in like situations will be subject to attack by one party based on nothing more than his own testimony that "he trusted the other party, and the other party misled him" – even after the accused party has died. If not reversed, the chancellor's ruling will create an issue of fact as to the three-year statute of limitations for claims of misrepresentation or fraud in every case involving the sale of real property, will eviscerate the clear and convincing standard for proving constructive trusts, and will open the door in every such case for the admission of parol evidence to explain clear and unambiguous language in land deeds. The certainty of contracts and deeds will be severely undermined, and people like the Defendants herein will be subjected to an unpredictable and wholly subjective judicial process in which their property can be taken from them based on little more than the opposite party's after-the-fact word.

Fortunately, this is not the law in Mississippi. When Mississippi's law of constructive trusts is properly applied, it is clear the chancellor erred, and his ruling in the Joels' favor should be reversed and remanded.

#### THE JOELS IN AUGUST, 2001

The Plaintiff's <u>own</u> testimony establishes that, in August of 2001, Plaintiffs-Appellees James Joel ("Mr. Joel") and his wife Margaret ("Mrs. Joel") (collectively "the Joels") were in good health<sup>2</sup>, and did not depend on anyone for their day to day needs.<sup>3</sup> (TT 58; RE 37) Mr. Joel worked as a driver for local car dealerships, delivering cars to Tennessee, Alabama, Arkansas, Texas, Louisiana, Missouri and Georgia. (TT 46-47; RE 25-26) Mr. Joel used road maps when delivering an automobile to a town or dealership that was new to him. (TT 47; RE 26) Mr. Joel's job required him to go out of town once or twice a week. (TT 48-49; RE 27-28) During these times, Mrs. Joel stayed by herself, and cared for herself. (TT 48-49; RE 27-28) The Joels owned two (2) automobiles at that time, a pickup for Mr. Joel and a car that Mrs. Joel used to drive herself to the beauty shop, or wherever else she needed to go. (TT 48-49 & 52; RE 27, 28 & 31)

In August of 2001, the Joels managed their own financial affairs. They had a retirement account, bank accounts, and life insurance, all of which they administered and/or otherwise handled by themselves. (TT 50-53 & 235; RE 29-32) The Joels paid their bills themselves, and made all of their own financial decisions, including if and when to buy or cancel insurance policies, to take out a loan, to buy a new car, or to purchase a new house. (TT 52-55; RE 31-34) They were familiar with land transactions, having bought

Mr. Joel's physical and mental health were excellent in 2001. (TT 56; RE 35) Mrs. Joel was hospitalized once in 1997 for depression, but was of sound mind and in good physical health in 2001. (TT 48 & 57-58; RE 27 & 36-37)

Mrs. Joel passed away prior to trial. As set forth in detail herein, Mr. Joel continues to live independently, drive, and make decisions for himself.

and sold several houses over the years. (TT 10-11) They had borrowed money from banks for home and house purchases on numerous occasions. (TT 49-50; RE 28-29)

The Joels also had experience with lawyers and managing their own legal affairs. In 1998, they had retained legal counsel to draft their wills (TT 320) and they had consulted with attorney Lindsey Meador regarding a potential legal claim prior to August of 2001. (TT 55-56, 116-17 & 125; RE 34-35) The Joels had also been represented by counsel in numerous house closings prior to August of 2001, and were familiar with the process. (TT 10-11) In every instance, the Joels provided their attorneys with all of the information they needed to handle each of these legal matters. (TT 56; RE 35)

In August of 2001, the Joels took care of all their own healthcare needs, driving themselves to the doctor when necessary, and taking care of any paperwork required by insurance or Medicare for payment of their bills. (TT 57 & 55, respectively; RE 36 & 34)

In short, the uncontradicted evidence showed that, in August of 2001, the Joels made all of their own decisions, both big and small, and that they were not dependent on their son Jimmy Joel ("Jimmy"), or anyone else, for assistance in their every day lives. Quoting Mr. Joel's own testimony, in which he summed up his detailed testimony as to this critical point, as set forth above:

- Q: You would agree that back in 2001, it's fair to say that you and Mrs. Joel were not dependent upon your son, Jimmy Joel, for your every day living.
- A: That's right.
- Q: That would extend to making decisions about finances, is that correct?
- A: Right.
- Q: That would extend to making decisions about what type of purchases you made, correct?

A: Right.

(TT 58; RE 37)

Every other witness at trial who testified as to the Joels' competence and independence, confirmed Mr. Joel's assessment, quoted above. (See, e.g., TT 112 (testimony of Jerry Bullock, the Joels' banker, that he considered the Joels to be competent to handle their own financial affairs, and to be independent "as far as making judgments"), 137 (testimony of Lindsey Meador, the Joels' attorney, that he perceived the Joels to be acting independently during the August, 2001 closing on the Avery Street property involved herein); 158 (testimony of Margie Prescott, Mr. Meador's legal assistant, that the Joels did not appear to be dependent upon, defer to, or be under the influence of, Jimmy during the aforementioned closing); and 234 (testimony of Debra Joel, the Joels' daughter-in-law and Jimmy Joel's widow, that Joels were not dependent on Jimmy in making decisions, and that the Joels made their own decisions)).

#### THE TRANSACTION

On August 21, 2001, the Joels closed on a house located at 808 Avery Street in Cleveland, Mississippi ("Avery Street Property" or "Property"). The house was originally built by Jimmy, who sold it to Michael and Michelle Shackelford (collectively, the "Shackelfords") for \$93,500 in 1999 with the understanding that he would buy the house back for \$1,000 over the original sale price if the Shackelfords should ever want to sell. (IT 236, 239-40; Ex. 4 at 70 (hereinafter RE 1)) When the Shackelfords contacted Jimmy in August of 2001 to accept his buy-back offer, Jimmy and Debbie tried to convince the Shacklefords to sell the house on the open market since the value was approximately

\$20,000 more than Jimmy's 1999 buy-back offer of \$94,500. (TT 240 & 242) The Shacklefords did not want to do this, however, preferring a quick sale to Jimmy. (TT 242) Shortly before the August 21, 2001 closing ("Closing"), the Shackelfords entered into a contract with Jimmy for the purchase of the Avery Street Property for \$94,500, \$1,000 more than they had paid Jimmy in 1999. (TT 239-40; Ex. 1 at 62 (hereinafter RE 2))

As explained below, the appraised value of the Avery Street Property at that time (August of 2001) was \$115,000. (TT 178) Because of Jimmy's buy-back agreement with the Shackelfords, which allowed Jimmy and Debbie to buy the house at a price well below its appraised value, Jimmy and Debbie would have immediately realized \$20,500 in equity in the house if they had closed on the deal by themselves. However, Jimmy knew that his parents, the Joels, wanted to move to a smaller home in a safer neighborhood and had been hunting for such a house, but had not been able to find anything they liked or could afford.<sup>4</sup> (TT 61-64) For these reasons, and for the additional reasons set forth in detail below, Jimmy offered to allow the Joels to purchase a life estate in the house for \$94,500, with the remainder interest in the house going to Jimmy. (TT 245-47) Such an arrangement allowed Jimmy to preserve his \$20,500 in equity in the house (and its anticipated appreciation), while at the same time allowing the Joels to live out their lives in a house that met their needs at a price they could afford. (TT 246-47)

Jimmy's Estate established through uncontroverted expert testimony at trial that the appraised value of the house in August of 2001 was \$115,000, and that its appraised value in 2007 was \$135,000. (TT 178; Ex. 17 at 160 & Ex. 18 & 174, respectively). Jimmy's Estate also put on expert testimony (again uncontroverted) showing that, if he had not

Jimmy did not own or otherwise hold an interest in any of the properties the Joels looked at prior to the Avery Street Property. (TT 64)

allowed his parents to purchase a life estate in the Property, he could have put the Property up for sale for between \$115,000 and \$120,000 (TT 240), or, more likely, would have rented the house for approximately \$1,000 per month, the going rental rate for such properties at the time. (TT 244) Jimmy's profit from such a sale, including what he would have made from reinvesting that profit, would have totaled \$45,178 as of trial; if Jimmy had returned the Property to his rental inventory, he would have earned more than \$56,333, to date. (TT 223 & 226, respectively) The Joels did not put on any expert testimony as to either these appraised values or Jimmy's lost profits.

Because of their equity, Jimmy and Debbie never considered selling the Avery Street Property to the Joels in fee simple for \$94,500, or allowing them to step into the contract Jimmy negotiated with the Shackelfords as the buyers of fee simple title. (TT 245-46, 253) The only options discussed by Jimmy and Debbie were renting the Property to the Joels, or allowing them to purchase a life estate in the Property. (TT 244-46)

The Joels looked at the Avery Street property, liked it, and agreed to purchase a life estate in the Property. (IT 65-66 & 83) Both Jimmy and the Joels thought the life estate agreement was a good idea. (IT 83, 272-73) Also, the Joels had previously told Debbie that they could not afford to purchase another house priced at \$105,000, much less the \$115,000-\$120,000 at which the Avery Street Property would have been listed had the Shackelfords put it up for sale. (IT 61) They could, however, afford to pay \$94,500 for a life estate in the Property. Purchasing a life estate with a first to die provision also alleviated the shared concerns of Jimmy and the Joels about losing the house to Medicaid if they had to move into a nursing home, and about Ann Joel ("Ann"), Jimmy's sister, taking advantage of the Joels (or, more specifically, Mrs. Joel,

should she survive Mr. Joel), if the house were in the Joels' names alone<sup>5</sup> (TT 14, 66, 83, 247 284, 299, 309-10 & 317)

It is undisputed that the Joels knew that they were purchasing a life estate in the Property prior to the Closing, a fact the chancellor himself noted in his opinion. (RE 16, 18 & 41-42; TT 14, 16, 22, 74, 84; R 954-55) According to Mr. Joel, he and Jimmy discussed the life estate arrangement on several occasions. (See id.)

Jerry Bullock's bank financed the Joels' purchase, and Lindsey Meador's law firm handled the Closing. (TT 16, 20 & 90) Jimmy and the Joels had both used Mr. Bullock and Mr. Meador in prior, unrelated transactions. (TT 17, 70-71 & 112) Jimmy used them on occasion for real estate transactions relating to Jimmy's business. (TT 92) The Joels had previously (and independently of Jimmy) worked with Jerry Bullock, borrowed money from Mr. Bullock's bank, and consulted with Lindsey Meador regarding a legal matter. (TT 54 & 56; RE 33 & 35) Jimmy did not refer his parents to, and was not involved in any of the Joels' prior associations with, Mr. Bullock or Mr. Meador.

Mr. Joel and Jimmy went together to meet with both Mr. Bullock and Mr. Meador prior to the Closing to discuss the details of the transaction. (TT 18, 90 & 129) Jimmy also met with Mr. Meador on one occasion by himself, during which they discussed how the

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