IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00474

DEBRA JOEL, AS EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE OF JIMMY JOEL; LINDSEY MEADOR, AS TRUSTEE FOR THE JAMES J. "JIMMY" JOEL TESTAMENTARY MARTIAL TRUST AND AS TRUSTEE FOR THE JAMES J. "JIMMY" JOEL FAMILY TRUST; MICHELLE A. HUMBLE, FORMERLY KNOWN AS MICHELLE A. SHACKELFORD; AND MICHAEL A. SHACKELFORD

APPELLANTS

V.

JAMES H. JOEL AND MARGARET R. JOEL

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Gerald H. Jacks, MS Bar No. JACKS, ADAMS & NORQUIST, P.A. Post Office Box 1209 Cleveland, Mississippi 38732 Telephone: 662/843-6171 Attorneys for Appellees

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

Jimmy's estate incorrectly asserts that nothing new was learned by the Joels after the filing of the original complaint which would entitle them to file an amended complaint. (Appellants' Brief at 26). Jimmy's estate cites no authority which holds that an amended complaint can only be filed upon the discovery of new information. Moreover, this argument completely ignores the fact that in the proposed amended complaint, the Joels added the newly discovered evidence that they learned from taking Lindsey Meador's deposition. (CP 218, 231-244). As discovered for the first time during Lindsey Meador's deposition, the Joels learned that Jimmy told Mr. Meador that the deed should convey a life estate to Mr. and Mrs. Joel to be measured by the life of the first Mr. or Mrs. Joel to die with a remainder interest going to Jimmy. *Id.* Jimmy explained to Mr. Meador that he wanted the deed to be drawn this way, in part, because he was concerned about his siblings' overreaching to gain an interest in the house should one of his parents die. *Id.* Prior to Mr. Meador's deposition, Mr. and Mrs. Joel were unaware of Jimmy's instructions to Mr. Meador regarding the manner in which the deed was ultimately drawn. Up until Jimmy's death, Jimmy had led the Joels to believe that the way the deed was drawn was in error and that he was going to correct the problem with it. (TT 28-29). This newly discovered evidence supported Mr. and Mrs. Joels' constructive / resulting trust theory, entitling them to amend their complaint.

Issue 3:

The Joels' Claim for A Constructive Trust Is Subject to Ten Year Statute of Limitations

Jimmy's estate argues that because the Joels' claims for imposing a constructive trust are based on statements by Jimmy, the chancellor should have found that the Joels' claim for a constructive trust was barred under the general three year statute of limitations applicable to fraud claims. (Appellants' Brief at 26-29). The chancellor decided this case based on constructive trust principles. Thus, the issue is whether the chancellor should have found that the Joels' claim for a constructive trust is barred by the statute of limitations.

A. Waiver

Jimmy's estate has waived any right to assert that the Joels' claim for a constructive trust is barred by the statute of limitations by failing to pursue this defense and by representing to the chancellor at trial that the Joels' constructive trust claim was not barred by the statute of limitations.

In their amended complaint, the Joels' asked the court for the following relief: (1) to impose a constructive trust; (2) to impose a resulting trust; (3) to impose an equitable lien; (4) to have the deed reformed based on the theory of unjust enrichment; or (5) to order that the deed be reformed to correct a scrivener's error. (CP 268). In responding to the amended complaint, Jimmy's estate raised the defense of all applicable statutes of limitations. (CP 301 at ¶44). However, in its summary judgment motion, Jimmy's estate solely argued that the Joels' claim to reform the deed based on a scrivener's error was barred by the statute of limitations. (CP 496 at ¶17). Jimmy's estate specifically stated in its summary judgment motion that it was not asserting that the Joels' claim for a constructive trust was barred by the statute of limitation, and reserved the right to raise this defense in future filings or at the trial. (CP 501 at fn 7). Jimmy's estate did not pursue a motion to dismiss the Joels' claim for a constructive trust based on the expiration of the statute of limitations in future filings with the court nor did it raise this defense at trial. It is well-settled that a defendant who raises an affirmative defense in his answer, but fails to actively pursue that defense while actively participating in the litigation, waives that defense. *Grimes v. Warrington*, 982 So. 2d 365, 370 (¶27)(Miss. 2008).

In addition, at the trial of the case, during his motion for a judgment as a matter of law, counsel for Jimmy's estate represented to the chancellor, "I think it's clear that all claims <u>except for</u> <u>constructive trusts</u> are barred by the statute of limitations." (TT 165). It is well-settled that issues not raised first at the trial level are procedurally barred. *McIntosh v. McIntosh*, 977 So. 2d 1257 (¶46) (Miss. App. 2008). By failing to pursue a statute of limitations defense to the Joels' constructive trust claim and by representing to the court the constructive trust claim was not barred, Jimmy's estate is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal.

B. Statute of Limitations for a Constructive Trust is 10 Years

It is respectfully submitted that even if the Court finds that Jimmy's estate did not waive its statute of limitations defense to the Joels' claim for a constructive trust, this assignment of error is without merit because the Joels' complaint for a constructive trust was timely filed.

The statute of limitations to impose a constructive trust is ten years. Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-39; *Allred v. Fairchild*, 785 So. 2d 1064, 1070 (¶16) (Miss. 2001). Where the cause of action and remedy are purely equitable, the ten year statute of limitations and not the general statute of limitations applies to a claim for a constructive trust. *Alvarez v. Coleman*, 642 So. 2d 361, 374 (Miss. 1994); *Winters v. AmSouth Bank*, 964 So. 2d 595, 599 ¶12-17 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The supreme court has held that where a person acquires property for his own benefit when he has been charged with acquiring it for someone else's benefit, the ten year statute of limitations applicable to constructive trust applies rather than the general statute of limitations. *Patton v. Pinkston*, 86 Miss. 651, 38 So. 500, 502 (1905).

In the case of *Patton v. Pinkston*, 86 Miss. 651, 38 So. 500, 502 (1905), the defendant received money from the testator during the testator's lifetime to invest for the testator's benefit. Instead, the defendant invested in lands for his own benefit without the testator's knowledge. The supreme court held that the defendant held the lands in constructive trust, and suit to enforce the trust was subject to a ten year statute of limitations and not the general statute of limitations. *Id.*

In *Alvarez*, Alvarez filed an action for breach of contract and a constructive trust. *Id.* at 364. (Alvarez asserted claims for a constructive trust arising out of an abuse of confidential relationship and unjust enrichment. *Id.* at 368-69.) The chancellor found that Alvarez's claims were barred by the general statute of limitations (which at the time was six years). *Id.* at 366. Alvarez appealed arguing that the ten year statute of limitations applied to his claim for a constructive trust. *Id.* at 373. The defendant argued that the ten year statute of limitations is applicable only to purely equitable causes of action and because Alvarez sought relief also on a breach of contract theory, an action at law, the general statute of limitations and not the ten year statute of limitations applies. *Id.* The supreme court rejected this argument, holding that the plaintiff was entitled to plead claims in the alternative, and the ten year statute of limitations, not the general statute of limitations, applied to the plaintiff's claims for equitable relief on the theory of a constructive trust. *Id.*

In the case of *Wholely v. Cal-Maine Foods, Inc.* 530 So. 2d 136, 137 (Miss. 1988), Wholely and Rogers were limited partners in a limited partnership in which Cal-Maine Foods was a general managing partner. Wholely and Rogers were informed through a regular status report that the partnership was experiencing net loss and there was little hope of their obtaining any refund on their investment. *Id.* The limited partnership was dissolved in 1978. *Id.* In February of 1979, Wholey and Rogers became aware there would be no return on their investment. *Id.* at 139. In April of 1986, Wholely and Rogers filed suit against Cal-Maine Foods alleging that Cal-Maine Foods, through misappropriations from the partnership and through self-dealing, made hidden profits for itself and concealed those profits from Wholely and Rogers which led to the limited partnership's demise. *Id.* Wholely and Rogers accused Cal-Maine of fraud and breach of fiduciary duties. *Id.* The chancellor granted Cal-Maine Food's motion for summary judgment finding that Wholely and Rogers claims were based upon fraud and subject to the general statute of limitations. *Id.* The chancellor found that Wholely and Rogers were aware of Cal-Maine's actions at least by February of 1979 and their suits filed in April of 1986 were barred by the general statute of limitations. *Id.*

Wholely and Rogers appealed asserting that their claims were subject to the ten year statute of limitations for a constructive trust. *Id.* The supreme court held that the key inquiry was whether Wholely and Roger's actions were cognizable at law or whether they were purely equitable. *Id.* at 139. The supreme court found that Wholely and Rogers had alleged that Cal-Maine had breached its fiduciary duties and that this was one of the situations in which a constructive trust could be applied. *Id.* Thus, the supreme court found that the ten year statute of limitations and not the general statute of limitations applied.

In this case, the Joels sought purely equitable relief through the imposition of a constructive

trust which is subject to the ten year statute of limitations. (CP 268). No money damages were sought, just the reformation of the deed and/or the reconveyance of the property. *Id.* This was purely an equitable claim. Like the defendant in the *Patton* case, who was supposed to invest in property for the testator's benefit, Jimmy was charged with making sure that his parents received a title his parents could convey and sell. Like the defendant in *Patton*, Jimmy, without the Joels' knowledge, acquired the remainder interest to Jimmy's benefit and to the detriment of the Joels. Like *Alvarez*, the Joels pled claims for a constructive trust arising out of a breach of confidential relationship and unjust enrichment. (CP 259-268). Like *Wholely*, the Joels pled claims for a constructive trust arising out of a breach of fiduciary relationship. *Id.* The chancellor decided the case based purely on principles of equity. Thus, the ten year statute of limitations applies. The Avery Street property was deeded to the Joels in August of 2001, and the Joels filed this suit in December of 2007, well within the ten year statute of limitations. (CP 6, TE 9).

The cases cited by Jimmy's estate for the proposition of applying a three year statute of limitations are distinguishable because none of those cases involved a claim for a constructive trust. *O'Neel Steel, Inc. v. Millette*, 797 So. 2d 869, 870-71 (¶9) (2001) (suit did not include a claim for a constructive trust and issue was whether ten year statute of limitations for suit to recover land under 15-1-7 or three year statute of limitations for fraud under 15-1-49 applied); *Sullivan v. Tullos*, 2008 WL 4782450 *1 (¶5) and (¶14) (Miss. App. Nov. 4, 2008) (suit was based solely on fraud and did not assert a claim for a constructive trust); *McWilliams v. McWilliams*, 970 So. 2d 200 (¶6) (Miss. App. 2007) (suit did not include a claim for a constructive trust and issue was whether ten year statute of limitations for suit to recover land under 15-1-49 applied).

C. Deed did not constitute constructive notice

In the alternative, it is respectfully submitted that even if the Court finds that Jimmy's estate did not waive the statute of limitations defense and the three year statute of limitations for fraud claims applies, the filing / mailing of the deed did not constitute constructive notice which set into motion the three year statute of limitations. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that

[w]here the fact misrepresented or the matters which are concealed are peculiarly within the representor's knowledge and the representee is ignorant thereof, it is generally held that, although the real fact appear on the public records, the representee is under no obligation to examine the records, and his failure to do so does not defeat his right of action. This is especially true where the very representations relied on induced the hearer to refrain from an examination of the records....In such cases the doctrine of constructive notice is inapplicable.

Guastella v. Wardell, 198 So. 2d 227, 230 (Miss. 1967); See also Green Realty Management Corp.

v. *Mississippi Transportation Comm'n*, 4 So. 3d 347, 350 (¶6-7 and 15) (Miss. 2009). In this case, Jimmy led Mr. and Mrs. Joel to believe that their deed would allow Mr. and Mrs. Joel to sell and devise the Avery Street home inducing the Joels to refrain from examining the deed / public records. (TT 67-68, 72-73). Mr. Joel testified that he did not read the deed after receiving it in the mail because Jimmy told him "everything was like I told him I wanted it." (TT 26). Based on this proof, the chancellor found there was no reason for Mr. and Mrs. Joel to review the Warranty Deed. (CP 960). Accordingly, the deed did not constitute constructive notice and the statute of limitations did not start running until 2005 or 2006 when Mr. and Mrs. Joel discovered that Jimmy had caused them to receive a title they could not sell or devise in their wills. Their suit filed in December of 2007 was timely.

Issue 4:

The Joels' Claims Are Not Barred By Laches

As its fourth assignment of error, Jimmy's estate asserts that the Joels' claims are barred by laches. (Appellants' Brief at 29-32). Jimmy's estate asserts that Mr. and Mrs. Joel's delay in bringing suit has resulted in harm to it because Jimmy is dead, and he is the only one privy to the conversations in which the life estate agreement was reached. *Id.*

It should be noted that Jimmy's death was unexpected and could not have been predicted by Mr. and Mrs. Joel. (TT 30, 259). Both Debra Joel and Mr. Joel testified that Jimmy died unexpectedly of a heart attack. (TT 30, 259). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a delay in bringing suit until after the death of a party, in and of itself, is insufficient to establish laches. *Sojourner v. Sojourner*, 247 Miss. 342, 352, 153 So. 2d 803, 807 (1963); *Continental Oil Co. v. Walker*, 238 Miss. 21, 35, 117 So. 2d 333, 338 (1960).

Moreover, Jimmy had assured his parents, prior to his death, that he was correcting the problem with their deed; therefore, the Joels' delay in bringing suit was understandable. (TT 27-29). Mr. Joel testified that he had three or four conversations with Jimmy about changing the deed, and every time, Jimmy told him, "daddy, I will get it taken care of. I'm busy right now, but I'll take care of it." (TT 28-29). The last conversation took place approximately ten days before Jimmy's death in June of 2007, and during this conversation, Jimmy told Mr. Joel, that he was busy building a house; however, he would take care of it and told Mr. Joel not to worry about it. (TT 29, 259). On cross-examination of Debra Joel, it was revealed that Debra Joel stated in her affidavit in support of her summary judgment motion that after the Joels asked "Jimmy to give up our interest in the property[,] Jimmy told them he would 'think about what could be done,' **but did so only to pacify them**." (CP 534 at ¶5) (emphasis supplied) (TT 269). Mr. Joel also testified that after Jimmy's death, Debra informed him that the Avery Street property was in probate and that they would have

to wait until it came out of probate to do anything about the problem with the Joels' title. (TT 31-32). Debra never told the Joels during this initial meeting she had no intention of conveying the property back to them. *Id.* Thus, it is respectfully submitted that Jimmy and Debra, by leading Mr. and Mrs. Joel to believe that Jimmy would correct the problem with their title when in fact he never intended to do anything, are the ones that should be estopped from asserting the bar of laches.

Mr. and Mrs. Joel's claims are not barred by laches for the additional reason that no claim is barred by laches if it is brought within the statute of limitations. *Bailey v. Estate of Kemp*, 955 So. 2d 777, 783 (Miss. 2007); *Hans v. Hans*,482 So. 2d 1117, 1120-21 (Miss. 1986); *Continental Oil Co. v. Walker*, 238 Miss. 21, 34, 117 So. 2d 333, 337-38 (1960). As noted in the argument above, Mr. and Mrs. Joels' request to have a constructive trust imposed is not barred by the statute of limitations.

Issue 5

Chancellor Did Not Err In Applying the Legal Requirements For A Constructive Trust

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